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ASPECTS OF NORTH DEVON’S TIMBER TRADE,
1780-1830

Michael Nix

On 15 November 1784 William Marshall, travelling near Peters Marland, noted his
admiration for the ‘valuable ship timber of this district’. On the spme day be alzo
observed, near Hatherleigh, ‘a large parcel of hewn Timber, it fin Ship Building, eoi-
lected by the side of Lhe Road’.! Contemporary newspaper adverlisements for timbey
sales vegularly veferved to the suitability of this parcticalar comnwdity for ns Mugesty's
Navy'. Competition for the product also extended to the butlders of merchant vessels
and the exporters of cak bavk. The cumulative demand placed a heavy burden on the
north Devon timber resources.

[n 1808 Charles Vancouver elaborated on the region's timber-growing putential,
remarking that

the sides of the valleys through which the Exe, the Torridge and the Thaw discharge
their waters, as well as the combes and small hollows dependent. en them, are all
more or less adormed with cak woodlands, which if pormitted to attain then matu-
rity and perfection the soil and the climate are <o eapable of affording; fivw
instances of inferior growth of timber would be found to that which is o much
pleasure beheld at Stevenstone or Heanton Park, or the demesnes of Eggesford,
Clovella Court, and Hartland Abbey.
Encapsulated in this and other extracts are his concerns about Lhe over-exploitation of
woodlands by landowners and farmers, and the generally poor level of management.
Vancouver expressed this more forcefully when he opined that anyone
viewing with an eye Lo general utilily, the present slate and condition of the vak
ttmber in this country, cannot withoul pain ohserve so general a destruction of this
our principal bulwalk ...
So alarmed was he at the widespread wastage of timber in Tevon that he even recom-
mended an ordnance te prevent Lthe cutting down af any tree without the mark of &
timber tnspector
Later, in L8111, the cditors of Risdon's survey echoad the same story, believing that
the timber of the county has been mueh reduced in guality of late years, and the
higrh price of foreign wand haa caused o vast number of our native oaks to bow
Lheir leads to Uhe axe. Planting is nat 2o general as it is desirable il should be ..

Demand had lony outpaced supply, creating severe pressuves on a seviously dimin-
ishing resource.”

Vancouvers portrait of a region intersected by wooded valleys, where growth was
pratected From the worst of the prevailing winds, and by deep combes sharply descend-
ing From the coastal watershed Lo Lhe sea, is elearly delineated in Figure 1, taken from
Greenwaad's map of the 183201 Further seritiny of twenty-six advertisements in
Trowmuan's fxeter Flying Post which relate specifieally to timber sales in and around
the fertile valleys of the rivers Taw and Tarridge, reveal a common concern, besides the
naval aspect alrewdy vefereed to, for the relationship of the woodlands to any conve-
nient means of transport. In some eases, il was simply noted that Barnstaple or
Bidelord were 'port towna', no doubt an ineentive to polential exporters, In March 1808,
vl eleven lols offered by the Slevenstone Estate, near Great Torvinglon, six were ‘conve-
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Figure 1. North Devon woodlands and the location by parish of advertised timber sales betiveen 1786 and 1523

nienl to Bideford’ and tive to the ‘Barnstaple ports’. All were ‘well worth the notiee of
shipbuilders, tanners, ate.”

Albion states Lhat the haulage of timbor was generally limited to o radius of Glteen
ta twenty miles from the coast, land transportation adding significantly to the overall
costs,” To reach the guays of Bidelord and Bacnstaple required dvy ground for Lhe
heavy timber waggons and a system ol raads capable of carrying them. One newspaper
advertisement noted, in February 1809, that standing timbor for sale in the parishes of
South Molton and Filleigh was focated only a quarter of a mile or so from the
Barnstaple to South Molton turnpike.” Access to the woodlands in the valleys ol Lhe
Paw and (he Torridge was considerably imiproved with road developmenls hetweoen
Creat Torrington and Bideferd, completed in 1825, and the partial realignment of the
Barmslaple-fixeler route five years later. Both broadiy shadowed the caurses of their
respective rivers,

The Lwo rivers were used for Lhe transportation ol Limber although the navigation of
the Taw was made wmore difficult by a tortuous and shallow channel, T'he deeper
Torridge also had the advantage of a small quay, ot Weare Giffard, ap-river from
Bideford and an area endowed with large tracls of woodiand, An advertisement in
March 1802 emphasised the ‘easy digtance’ from this quay of saleable timber standing
in or near the approprintely numed St Giles-in-the-Wood. " Twelve years alter the com-
pletion of the Rolle Cunal in 1827, an account for quay dues included a charge of £4 {8s
6d for landage of 98 tons of wood and bavk sold by Earl Fortescue, It was veceived by
the merchanl George Braginton of St Giles.”! Another Flying Post adveriisement
stressed the location ol Limber on the ‘edge of a navigable river’ near Bideford. " Such
titnber eould be rafled. the cause of a dispute on the Taw in L1604, Philip Gushen of
Tiverton wins accused of damaging weirs and banks al Tawstock, whilst floating timber
from High Bickington Lo Barnstaple, & distance of ten miles. The lormet, it was alleged,
weased not to pul his wood in the water™ Thimber was also eareied in rowing and sail-
ing Lighlers or barges, As early as 1694, the Wardens of the Wood and Coal Stores for
the "paare of Barnstaple’, expended 3s 4d for the travelling costs to purchase woad aned
to ‘geale boals and lighters to bring the same home’™

Although the twenty-six Fving Post advertizsements studied represent only & port of
the north Devon timber business, thay do indicate disteibution patterns and the role of
various pavishes in the trade (Table Ln The largest single sale was in February 1794
when over 3,000 brees were open to inspection at Pigslake Wood, about one mile-and-a-
gquarter from Barnstaple, This aumber was virtually equatled between 1805 and 1806
with three sales in the pavish of Batterleigh. Four other parishes, Atherington,
Chittlehampton, 5L Giles-in-the-Wood and Yarnscombe, were able to market more than
1,000 trees each, agpeegating nearly 8,000 in all. Greal Torringion, Weare Giffard,
Monkletgh, Frithelstack and Beaford offered, al vavious Limes, a lurther 1000 to 1600
trees ench.

Ninety per cend of approximately 29,500 trees in the sample were onk, seven per cent
ash, two per cent, fir and the remainder elm, lime, syeamore and beech. There was also
w total of 106 acres of coppice, probably mesily vak., An 1839 valuation of ‘timber,
suplings, ete” growing on the Forlescue estates at Moeath, Bray Marsh, South Molton
ael Chittlehampton, prices oak ol £6 per ton, ash at €4, elm ad £3 105, fir at £2 10s,
lime, heech and sycamore al £2 and walouat and pollards al £1 108" Taking into
account pertodic price fluctualions, these figures provide a broad-wush seale of volue
for the different Lypes of timber available in north Pevon. Giuns made from the sale of



Species and Number of Trees ]
map | parish oak ash | elm |beech| fiv |syea-| lime | coppive
ref more (acres)

1 Bideford 180 L95 5{) - - - ¥
2 Landeross 100 - 34 - - - )
4 Weare Giltard 1400 - - - - - 12
4 Monkleigh L1425 10 10 - - - -
5 Great Torrington | 1400 - | (some)| - - - -
6 Buckland Brewer - - - - - 10
[Frithelstock 1234 27 - - - - .
4 St Giles L300 - - - - - 25
9 Little Torrington 650 5 - - - - 11
10 Langtree 232 - - - - - -
1t Merlon 00 20 - 16 - - 10
12 | Beaford <H6 v - - - -
13 § Barnstaple 3000 | sy H - - -
14 Fremington 3 73 - - -
15 | Bishops Tawten 10 - - - -
16 Swimbridpe 622 38 - - - -
17 | Yarnscombe 1043 a9 26 . - -
15 | Chitilehnmptons
Warkleigh HTCH - - - - - -
19 | Chittlebamplon 2325 L1u - N1} - - -
20 | Warkleigh 40 b4 §11 - 1321 -
21 Alheringtun EbLA ) - -
22 | High Bickington 60 3 - -
23 | Sauterleigh 2890 145 - Ly 530 10 -
2 Kingsnympton 266 44 5 16 - - -
25 | Arlington G921 211 - - - - 9
26 Bratton Fleming 243 Ld4 - - -
2 Fitteigh/S. Molton | 605 21 - 32 - - 5
28 | South Molton - - - - - - {=pme)
TOPAL <26360 1=19011 =148 153 h3h 10 i =106 ,E

Table 1 Key to figure 1: the sale of trees i north Devon by parish and by specivs adoor.
tised in Trewman’s Excter Flying Post bedwween 1786 and {823

6

a wauod did not stop wilh the culling dowa ol the trees. An account for two acres of
woodland felled at Brembridge Wood, to the norih-east ol Castie T, Filleigh, shows a
profit of L4 18s 2d on 3,165 faggots, 789 posts, 84 stakes and 3 tong 2 hundredweight of
nak bark. Labowr costs amounted to o further £18 3s 44

North Devon shipbuilders, requiring long, straight pieces of Gmber for thelr vessels,
ware able Lo lurn locally ground trees, the cost of which contributed o Lhe relative
cheapness of their products. [n 1792, John Watking of Bidelord, thought it nnt.

improper Lo remark ... that the building of ships is cheaper hove than in any ether
part of England. The principal reason for this is, the greot quantity of timber
which is eontinuously cutting down in the neighbourhood
This, and low labour costs, gave an edge to north Devon shipbuilding and repoir work,
which continued inte the nineteenth contury, In 1880, for example, cheap matevials
and labour persuaded shipowners in Swansea to turn, for repairs, from their own yards
to Appledore where up to one-third could be saved on costs.”

Richard Chapman was one novlh Devon shipbuilder who purchased some timher
locally. On the death of his shipbuilder falher, Emmanue], in the late I770s, Chapman,
still in his teens, took control of the yard at ClLIlT Houses, Northam, at one end of
Crehard Hill, [t was to become the most important in north Devon Tn may 1788
Chapman purchased 99 oak trees wilh ‘tops and bark' from John Seavles, the Steward
to Lord Rolle of Stevenstone. The timber, standing on the estate at Beam near Greal
Torrington, was valued at £175, an average of about £1 195 per tree. Half the amount
was paid before the trees were cul down and taken away. Almost a year later, in April
1799, Chapman contracted to buyv a further 297 oaks at a total cost of 624 55 Bolh
shiphuilder and steward dealt within a systemn common on large estates, Timber was
open to inspection at a public survey which was overseen by the monorial steward. It
was then eut down by the buver alter purchase. "To protect the remaining woodland, a
covienant in the agreoment helween the two men stipulated that should any tree not
included in the sple be cut down a ‘penadty of 5s every fool of solid timber would be
pattd, Chapman’s vessels wore bong-tasting if they survived the normal hazards of
tracle. The Netotar, o 63 ton brigantine built in 1788, sailed [or ninety years.” Another
north Devon vessel, completed in 1829, was the Lord Rolle, She was launched up-river
from Bidelord bridge ot Willtun Hulchings vard at Annery, gear Weare Giffard. One of
Lhe selling points in Lhe sale adverlisemend of June 1884 was that she was built ‘of the
best materiats, most of the timber being grown in Stevenstone Park.”™

Not all the Limber was utilized locally: some was exported. The Flving Post's shipping
departure lists for the period July 1791 Lo June 1793 record twenty-nine eargoss and
Len consignments of Livnber and planks exported from Banstaple. The shipbuilding cen-
tre of Greenock, in Scotland, and Plymouth were the most significant importers of
north Devon timber, receiving thivteen cargons and nine consignments and five cargoes
and three consignments respectively. Iifracoinbe and Porl Glasgow weve also relatively
important recipients, sharing five cargoes and theee consignments between them. The
remaining shipments were despatched o various ports in the south-west of England,
Ireland and Scotland.

There are lew relerences to the actual quantitics of timber exported, althuugh one
source, Oliver Harrig’s ‘Lally boold, provides a fow insights in the mid-1770=<7 Harris
was a land-waiter in the Barastaple customs service. As part of his job he maintained
Lallies of the amount of goods exported in vavious vessels for which he Iiad o responsi-
bility. One example of the amount of timber shipped trom Barnstaple was the ffty
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loads* ot oak taken on board Lhe Kadeaeower of Lymington which was bound lor
Plymouth in July U777, Another wag the live tons of sak tor Tenby, carried, probably as
a consignment, in the Blessing of Barnsluple,

The timber trade with South Wales incduded oak poles which were used extensively
in coabmines. They were an inferior grade of Limber, nsually eroaked and unsuited Lo
any form of local constructional work, Harris's ‘tally boak® records, in 1777, three ship-
ments of oak poles despatched to the mines of Pembrolceshive, through the ports of
Pembroke and Tenby. They were senl by the dozen; fourteen in Mareh and sixteen and
ten in Seplember” Bideford and Barnstapte managed one cargo each to Tenby i the
early 1780s, and, even when thuber was in great demand generally, Bideford exported
oniy four cargoes Lo the same porl belween August 1805 and September 18067 When
compared with the porls of Aberdyfi aund Aberystwyth in west Wales, which shipped an
average of forty-cighl cargoes per yeay to Mittord Havern between 1792 and 1794, and
the numbier of timber shipments from north Deven in general, the oceasional carge or
consignmaent of poor grade aak poles throws inte perspective the overall guality of wond
available in the region,

However, it must not be presumed that all timber exported from north Devon was of
loeal arigin, Sinee timber had to be earried by sca as near to its ultimate destination us
wirs prasible to avaid the unnecessary costs of transhipment from large, deep-sea ves-
wobs into smaller craft, all BEnglish ports participated in the direst importation of for-
ein timher Sowme was redistributed via north Deven's coasting trade.

Evidenee: by this particielar aspect of the trade is sketchy, but il is cerlain thal some
imiporied loreign timber was redistributed under the generie heading of ‘sundry poods’.
A lew specifie reforences to ve-exports are made. At the beginning of 1777, for example,
the Exchange ol Bivnstaple, wis dee to sail For Neath with deals, on which ‘duly [was]
paid here on importation’.™ The ship’s masts, despatched from Havnstaple to
Bridgwaler in the autumn of 1791, were probably impocted from Riga, One shipment ol
slaves, brought to Barustaple in the Hofney, was ostensibly from the same place. They
had actually been made in the United Stales and used ws dannagge wder a carga of vice
which was discharged at Hamburg, before the vessel sadled far Riga®
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TWO UNUSUAL DEVON SAINTS

Nicholas Orme

Davon is not, like Cornwall, o county of unusual saints. Although il name is thal of o
British people, the Dumnonit, it has very few ehurches linked with distinetive, local
Celtie figures like thase that ave so common west of the Tamar. Oonly three Devon
chuvehes, in fael, are known te have had their own Celtie saint huried on the site:
Braunton (3t Brannac), Chittlehampton (St Urith), and Flariland (St Nectan). Landkey
preserves a Celtie church name; it means ‘the church of thy Caf', a saint probably the
same as the patron of Kea near Trurvo. Cheristow in Hartland once possessed a chapel
ol St Wenn, a saint who also owned dedications in Comwall. Two other places in north
Devon, Filleigh and Parracombe, which are sometimes said to enshrine the names of
Celtie saints, can be discounted. The early forms of the name Filleigh suggest no con-
nection with the Cornish 3t Fili, and Parracombe (Pedrocomba in Domesday RBonle, is
unlikely to be ‘Petroc’s combe’, Saints’ names are not nsually combinod with natural
features in such kinds of place-names.’

There are, of cowrse, a number of other Devon churches with dedications to Celtic
saints, the evitdence for which can be traced back before the Retformation and seems
authentic, There are about fourteen to Petroe, excluding Hacford, which should not be
counted, and including Harpford, which sught to be - these twa places having been
mixed up by the Victorian antiquary Gesrge Oliver, There ure two to Bridget, two to
David, two {outside Hartland) to Nectan, and ane each to Kerrizn, Nun and Winwaloe.
But zl} these could have originated after the Suxon conguest of Devon, and in the case
of the Petroc dedieations almost certainly did: perhaps as late ag the tenth or eleventh
venturies. They are probably bhorrowings lvom the Celiic world as a resull of the Saxon
vonquest vl Cornwall {including Bodmin, St Petroc’s main church) or through Bnglish
trade-links with Ireland. As for Constanline, the patron saint of Milton Abbot, and
Helen, the patran of Abbotsham and Lundy, they ave as likely to be the Emperor
Constantine and his mother Helen as they are to be the Centlic saints swho possessed
similar names,

Most of the churches in Devon whose patron saints have been reeorded before the
Refarmation fwhich ig only about 60 per cent of the total) were dedicated to Bibliead,
[luropean or Saxon saints. The most popular cholees were Mary, Peter, Andrew and
Michael, In uthor parts of England there were local Saxon saints, bul Devon hus tradi-
tionally heen regarded as having only one of Lthese — Sidwell of Exeter — o figure o
shadowy that it has been suggested that she Loo was Celtic and pevhaps identical with
the Sitoloila, who appears in a Breton saint's life of the ninth century.” T she was
Saxou, as the much later legends about her suggest, she lived at some Lime hetwaoen
the late 600s, when the English are fivst mentioned living in Exeter, and the O0s
when she is first recorded in documents.® Two other Devenians were venerated as
saints in the later middle ages: Bishop Berkeley of Exeter (4. 15277 and his successor
Bishop Lacy (d. 14553, but neither of these was formally canonised or had a ehaveh,
chapel o altar named after him?

The list of dislinctive Devon saints - Cellic or Suxon — is thus a small ane, but it js
possible to add Lwo further names Lo 1L, neither of which is wel known in writings
aboul the county. We begin on Lhe north ceast at Instow, a place fivst recorded in

10

Domesday Book as Juhannestotu ). meaning the ‘stow” or holy place of John. There are
severi] gimilar place-names in Deven and Cornwall, such as Christow, Jacobslow and
Marystow: usualty named alter a Hiblical o Buropean saind, bul on at least one occa-
sion (Padstow) alter o Celtie one (Petrac), We do nol know whether the John of [nstow
was originally the Baptisi, the Evangelist ov a different John altogether, but it appears
that in the twellth and thirteenth centuries he was regarded as 2 local and Celtic saint.
In the Life of St Nectan, campased at Hartland or for its clergy in the lwellth ceniury,
Nectan s said to had hoen one af the twenty-four children of the Welsh king Brychan.
The numes of Lthe other twenty-three are given, and John oceurs ag the second, after
Nectan himself. When [ published a study ol this list of the children of Brychan in
1992, I discounted the possibility that John was John of Instow. [ had scen the theovy
proposed in print, but it had not been supported by evidenee. That evidence exists, but
it is very little known, and is to be found in a list of English saints and their resting
places copied by the famous Tudor antiquary, John Leland, in ahoul 1540, Annoyingly
for us, Leland identified his source merely as a fibeffiey (hitUe ook but as Lhe places in
the list begin with Glastonbury and continue with other ehurches in the west of
England, the book may well have come from that abbey. The materind relovant to us is
as follows, translaling from the original Latin:

f'rom a litile hook of places where saints rest in England:

King Edgar is honourably laid at Glastonbury in a silver chest.

In a certain village which is called Haselbury, 5t Wallvie,

In Branctona Brauntont lies 3t Brannoe, a mar famaus or miracles.

In a certain town near the River Thorich ['Torvidge| lies the blessed martyr John

who, having been beheaded on one side of the viver, made his way with his head in

hig arms across the river, which is assertad to have a wide space belween ils

banks. and placed it [his head| on the other bank, and tn cach place there is a

church in his honour,

In the village which s called Chittlehampton lies 5t Hyerithe the viegin,

In the town which is called Mudwennestow lies St Mudwenna.

The relics of Lhe Blessed Abbess Hilda in the monastery al Glastonbury?

The rest af the list is concerned with other parts of England. The only clues to the
date fie in Lthe place-nanmes. Brancfong is spelt in this way in Lthe late eleventh contury
and the River Torvidge is not spelt with a “Th’ after the thirteenth, which sugpests o
rougrh chronatogical ovigin between 1086 and L300 Mudwenna and Mudhoennestow
taak tike alterations of Morwenna and Morwenstow, on the assumption thoat Morwenna
was the different Saxon saint Modwenna.

The list, then, deseribes o local saint called John who was beheaded and alterwards
carried his head ~ us indeed did Nectan of Hartland. He was buried in o church near
the River "Torridge, opposite a chureh on the other side of the river which was also dod-
icated to him. [nstow is by Uhe Torridge, it is the only church in the area known to have
been dedicated to a 8L John before the Reformalion, and it lies against Appledare
where a chapel of 5L John (not identiBied as the Baptist ov Fvangelisty was licensed far
worship by the bishop of Fxeter in 14007 IT the Appledmve chapel wits new ot that dale,
a difficully would arise about Lhe dating ol Lelands document, but there are other
cases where ancient chapels were given licences (o worship by late-medieval bishops,
so we can allow the possibility thal this building was older. Another reason for dating
Leland’s evidence earlior rather than later is that, by the last guarler of the fifteenth
century, Instow church was regarded as being dodieated 1o 5t John Lthe Baptist, and
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there are no less than three veferences to Lhis in contemporary records belween 1476
and 1501 We are therefore left wilth a complex stovy. Instow was dedieated by 1056 to
a 8t John, identity now anlmown. 13y the twelfth or thivteenth centuries the saint was
regarded ns a distinet loeal sainl — Welsh brother of Nectan in one version, head-carey-
ing martyr in ancther. But these tracitions were not strong ones. By the late fifteenth
century, the saint of the ehurch was regarded as the Bapiist, loaving s to wonder why
thu earlier legend (presumably supported by evidence of a shrine or grave) had disap-
peared.

Our olher unusual saint comes from the south coast and fram Stoke Fleming, the
parish immediately west of Dartmouth, Nowadays, its parish church is considered to
be dedicated to S1 Peter. but the earlier reference to this is no older than L7427 [t
belengs to a large category of eases in Devon where the original patron saint of the
church was forgotten after the Reforroation and a new one was invented when, in the
veign of George {1 antiquaries started enquiring about patron saints, In this mstance,
Peter was probably soggested on the grounds Lhat a toeal Guv or feast day was held on
Si Pater's Day. There ave, however, two earlier reforences to the patron saint of Stoke
Fleming. One, in an fingquisition post mortem’ (enquiry inte the property of o dead land-
holder) in 13684 names the saint as Krmond.”” The ather, in the registec of the bishop of
Exeler in 1419, calls im Ermund.” Hitherto, no one seems Lo have pul Lhese two
pizces of ovidence together to declave unequivocally that Steke Fleming was dedicatad
to a distinet 56 Ermund (o Ermonds, so lel us now do so!

Who wis S0 Ermund? Ne such saint appears to be konown in England: in medieval
calendars of saints’ days, lists of saints’ resting places, or modern dictionaries of saints.
The deta Sanctorum ~ the great Catholie dictionary of gaints which was begun in the
seventeenth century and is still not quite complete -~ mentions a very obscure German
saint frmund at Julich in the Rhineland, who is said te have lived in the fifth century,
and a Belzian saint Ermeie who dicd in ART37.77 16 s pogsible that a relic of one of these
saints was given to Stoke Floming church, which lies close to a port and once belonged
to a fumily called Fleming, but it would he unwise to press the point without move evi-
donee. The name seems to have existed in Saxon England, because there was onee o
place called Kornnendesteah in Bessels Leigh iformerly Bevkshire, now Oxlordshires.
He may have heen the unigue local saint of Stoke Fleming, buried and venevaled only
there. though it is odd, if so, that his shrine and cult bave left so litkle trace in antiquar-
ian writings or folklore,

Thare is one olher turious piece of evidence abaut the Soulh Fams which may be rol-
evant. Not far from Stoke Fleming lies Stokenham, historically 2 chief place of the
arca: the meeting place of the hundred in which Stoke Fleming lies, sand the ehuareh of o
farpge parish with dependent chapels which looks as if il was once a major Saxon church
ar minster. The only medieval reference 16 the dedication of Stokenham chureh oecurs
in 1343, when the patron saint was named as Humbert the Confessor There were two
hauly men of this name — Humbert of Savoy (4. L1588} and Humbert of Romans {(d. 1277}
— but neither was widely venerated in England. Neither can have been the original
patron of this much older church, and it is difficult to imagine cither of them being
added to tor replacing) the original patron sainl. Despite Instow, the overwhebming evi-
dence in Devon is that churches stayed Fathful te their patron saints in the middle
ages, rather than changing them, Is Humbert. then, a rationalisation ar readaptation
of an obscure Saxoen saint — a distinet saint of Stokenham or even Ermund of Stoke
Fleming? Here again, more information would be welcome; unfortunately, seuih Devon
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was not a region much known or visited by cavly antiquaries. There may have heon
foeul saints of whom we know nothing, or they may have been imported from overseas.
At any rate Ermund — however obscure - deserved Lo be remembered at Stoke
Fleming, and it would be good il he cauld be restored as its patron, at least alangside
Peter. This would give Stoke Fleming « distinetion shaved by no other English chureh,
a8 for as [ know.
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DEANCOMBE: A DARTMOOR FARM

*aul Rendell

The building of Burralor Reservoir aftected aver twenty dwellings within the cateh-
ment arca which mcludes the valleys of the Meavy, Deancombe, and Newlycombe
Burratim Reservoir was built hetween 1883 and L1898 ag a wator supply for Plymaoeth.

One of the buildings 1o be affected was Deancombe (8% 580687). This is a very ald
farmstead and in 1317 the mome people ealled the valley ‘Denceom®, but there was no
mention of o furm? The Nest mention was apparently in 1450, when John Shullabere of
Dencomb cotned 245th of tin at Plympton® Plymplon was a stannarcy town al which Lax
on tin had to be paid to the king. In the account of the brester of the west quarter of
Dartmoor in the 14908, the 'vill of Dennecumbe in the parish of Walkhampton™ is
recorded as paying a venville rent of Ls 8d. This seerns to imply thal there was more
than one farm there. [n 1506 *Dennecombe’ 1s again deseribed in Lthe forester's
aceounts.

Johin Windieate the younger was a tinner at Bast Deancombe in 1577, In 1582 Jobn
Windiate the elder, also a tinner, cauveyed one sixth part of a linwork Lo Edward
Mander:John died within the next twe yoars and his widow, Alice, took over the tene-
ment ealled ‘Dencombe’. In 1585 John Windicate the younger was al Bast Dencombe,
while Rubert Cockle lived at West Dencombe® In 1611 the Windiales ol Deancombe
and the nearby foorm of Middleworth were granted shares in thirty-nine tinworks
including at Deancombe Lane, Deancombe Lond, Reddapil ton the Meavy River),
Reglesburrow, fadzo near the River Meavy) and Cramberplena (possibly on Cramber
Down)s Bo it seems that farmers were involved in Un works as well as working on the
land.

There ts a big jup Lo the next record of Detmcombe, (o 1797, when Roger Atwill of
Willtown, now Welllown, in the parish of Walkhampilon, bugueathed to Elias Giles
senior an estate called Deancornbe. When Elias Giles dicd o, was given to his son, Elias
Giles. In L8OL the ledgers of the Manor of Walkhampton put John King at West
Deancombe paying an annual vent of 7s 6d, and the tax was £1 48" In 1804 Ann King,
the wife of John, died and he hnd no interest in West Deancombe o the property was
handed over to William Cricher who stayed there until 1810,

At Fast Deancombe in 1810 Jobn Morthmore paid yearly rent of 6= 2d, with tand tax
of Ls. He alse rented pat of West Deancombe for the same amount. A chiamber bam
with a shippen was built in L8538 af, Fast Deancombe. George Giles, the land agent for
Maristow Bstate wrote to Richard Andrew of Bast Deancombe Lo tell him that tendoers
were oud lor his new building.”

Thomus Fairweather and Henrvy Bradridge were living at West Deancombe in 1840
and an L0 Mareh of that year they were repuiring many of the ancient hedges, as
George Criles noted when he paid them o visil Tn 1849 another property was handed
over Lo the Maristow Estate, following the dealh. on 4 February 1849, of Richard
Creber of Outhome, across the valley, at the age of eighty-two. The estate wax not
helieved {0 be very valuable, worth only about 820, For many vears it was intendoedl
Lthat this property would be handad over to lheancombe, and this was donc in
September 1840, when George French was at Deancombe, The letters do not mentian
which Deancombir, west ov east, so maybe there was only one farm by then” Kelly's
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Pirectory puts John Jackman there in 1866, Richard Rouse in 1873, John Creber in
188, and George Pengelly in L8R3 until 1892, George Hamlyn and George Hamlyn

Juniar were in oceupalion until aboul 1909, when George junior lelt and George senjor

conlivued living there until the Anal abandunment between 1910 and 16144

Al Lhis time Siv Henry Lopes sold land and farms to Plymouth Corporvation Waler
Works {POWW), including Desncombe. Duving the latter part of the frst world war
three soldivrs were stationed at Middlewarth Farm and were asked by PCWW Lo plant
and harvest potatoes. Horses belonging to POWW were used For ploughing, and the
Aelds at Middlewnrih aud Deancombe were planted. Gaydon was the ploughman,
Copper the earler, and Davis the cook. I is believed thol only one erop was planted and
harvested

[n 1985 Deancombe Farm and some of the Telds weore used for a film ealled
Revodution hased on Lhe American Civil War® Today the Farms lie in ruins and their
history is becoming forgotten.
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DEVON LANDSCAPE ARTIST: WILLIAM TRAIES

Bill Ransom

William Trates was homn at Credilon in 1789 and from an early age decided to he an
artist, Uis desire and his talenl were recognized and encouraged by the Roverend
Coyer Pateh, vicar of St Leonard’s in Fxeter, who wag a nephew of the artist Thonias
Pateh and the swner of a fine collection of water-colours. [t was the Reverend Palch
whe introduced Traies to Joseph Favington RA. landscape actist and diarist,
Farington records in his diary for 23 November 1810 his meeting with Traies, (spelt
incorrectly ax Tradle in the diary), ‘After tea a young man of the nwune of Traile came it
heing the wish of Mr Pateh that [ should see him as hes mind is bent upon being an
artist. [ looked @l o few of his attempts at drawing and found he had everything to
learn; but his resolution seemed to be fixed. He told me he was iwenty one years old,
and at present employed ag Clerk to a manufictwrer. A carrespondence which he keeps
up with a young man of the name of Passmore who is now painting at the British
Institution seemed Lo have a grent effect ininerensing his desire to proceed in the same
wity, [ remarked thal he had but one eye but was informed it was not due to any weak-
ness in those pacts but that he was boyn so, and saw well with the othe”

At an early stage in his Hie, presumably following his post with the wmanufacturer
Trades became an employec of the Post Office, al ivst in Exeter. Here he heeame frieond-
Iy with John Gendall and the twa wsed o go sketching together, Tt hiag been stated that
Traies ‘bepan the practiee of drawing as the tllustrator of a book on natarad hislory by a
Dv Neal™ butl attempts to identify this book have been unsucesssiul® Pateh alsu intro-
dueed him ta the Reverend Palk Carringlon, rector of Bridford, According to Pycrof)?
Trajes and Carrington were kindred spirits. For many vears Traies spent his autumn
at the Rectory and both sketehed scenes in Bridivrd Wood and the neiphbourhood
including one by Trates “The Gipsy Encampment’ which apparently became famous,

Elis firal known exhibited work was at the Roval Academy in 1817 simply called
Landseape’ {No, 100) and Tis address was given as At M Hooper's 32, Marylebone St.,
Ciolden Square, London.' By 1822 he was back in Exeter at the Friavy. Twe paintings
wore shown el the Royval Academy that vear ‘Sunsct, Sketeh rom Nateee' (No. 825 and
the first painling explicitly of Devonshive, *Waterfall on the Teign, near Lustleigh,
Devon'. It was anolher twenty-three years hefore his only other exhibil at the Academy
appeared: ltke the first this was simply entitled ‘Landscape’ (Nu. 12120 In this interval,
however, he was not idle and many pictares were bought by local patrons, in particular
Caplain Parker of Whiteway House, Chudleigh, the father of the Mowmber of
Parliamentl for South Devon, by Mr Hoberl Saunders of Bedfird Civeus, Exoter, by My
Kendall and by My Miles, Craies spenl long periods at Whiteway House and had a stu-
div there where he drew and painted loeal scenes. One room at Whiteway House was
espreially devoted to works by Traies. Mr Saunders was one of the artist’s most enlha-
stustic putrons and, we are informed, was always impnticnt to receive a new painting
and valued them highly. The Exeter Flying Post® reeords that My Saunders *has recently
refused an offer of L3O guineas made by the pietaee dealer Daniel Pennell for a brifliant
specuuen of Traies in the style of Claude’. The collection of Mr Kendall, a solicitor and
Lafented member of Exeter literary socivty, numbered at least fifty pictures attributed
to Canaletto, Vernel, Rembrandl, Yondyke and ather old masters into whose company
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paintlings by Traies were also admitted” Me William Miles was both a patron and n
lriend to Trates and often Leied U persuade him Lo exhibit in London but aparl from
the four works mentioned Traies was essontially 2 local exhibitor.

He hatl works shown al Tixetor trom 18227 ta LH24 and again in 1845 and 1848 aoul
at Plymoutll in 1832, A review of the exhibition held in Exeter in Qctober 1822 states
“Traies Bellomarsh Hill is a fine specimen of larmony in colouring and delicacy of pen-
cilling and displays & wonderful improvement in this vouny artist who seems uneon-
seious of his own merit™, [n the 1823 exhibition al the Deven and Exeter Subseription
Rooms Traies shawed "Scene on the Dart’ (No, 213) and in the Illowing year was
included ns 'smong the nost eminent of the moderns”™

On 19 April 1325 he married Maria Richards, davghter of Joho Downman, at Holy
Trinity Church, Exeter and subsequently had three sons” Ouae of Uhose sons became
an artist — also of considerable local repute who unfortunately died young before, per-
laps, his [ull ability had been reached,

In the 1845 exhibition held under the auspices of the Devon and Exeter Society for
the study and encouragemaont of Art Trires shuwed a scene in Perthshive (No.13) and
‘Landseape South Devor’ (No. 176), A review of this latter picture stated ‘No. 176 is o
landscape (Scuth Devon) by W. Trates anel shows his intimate acguaintanes with, as
also the peculiar relish this artist hus, for the beauties of quiet nature. The oljects
introduced are suitable and striking efteet is produced by a judiciows disbributiog of
light and shade'.’* He exhibited twao pictures the following vear but thess met with
some criticism Irom the reviewer to Lhe Art Jourmal who wrote "The veleran Devanian
artist Traies has sent fwo landscapes, numbers 60 and 130, They are sylvun seenes and
treated somewhat in the manner of Ruysdael: his distances are charming and his com-
position agreeable. It is to be regretted that his love of the verdurous should be so
great. This colour s east over his works like a green veil of & coat of Devon damp: the
blue rivers are greener Lhan salt waves. Again his works savour Loo much of the closet,
nat to say midniyht lamp, We lack the daylight vartely and [reshness of out-of-door
nature, where study offers the only security against mannerism and conventionality™

in 1847 the reviewer of the Wxefer Fiying Oost saad of Lhe third exhibition of the
Devon and Exeter Society *We are sorry to find nothing ol our townsman Traies
glthough we have several good things from his son’.” Indeed, Traies did not seem to
exhibit widely, possibly bienuse his paintings were sold readily without the need to do
so. However, like ntany an’ arbist his fume was nol achieved quickly as is clearly seen
from correspondence by his advacates Lo the local press at the time, Thus The Wistern
Times for 26 July 1834 publishes o poem by J. Johns of Crediton headed *On Visiting
Mr Traie’s Pictures in Magdalen Street” which deals with neglected talent and extaols
the virtues of the puintings. Doublless the poet meant well by his once fellow-lowns-
man but to vounteract any undue emphasis on negleet the assertion was veluled in the
issue of 9 Aupust™ which nevertheless admitted that while Traies was not in affluent
circumstances ‘yet for honour and eredit of his county it may also be said that his mer.
its ;e known and appreciated’.

In 1842 Traies was again the subject of some slight, controversy in the local press
regrarding the extenl of his role as teacher of annther Devonshive artist William Spreat.
The Western Luminary™ in that year records some difference of opinion between the
two artists but it seems established that between Octaber 1838 and April 1838 Spreat
received somo sixty lessons from Troies.

As Grant' notes. the county houses of Devon held most of the paintings by Traies.
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nent collection of the Roval Albert Momorial Museum which also containg a further
twelve pictures by Traies, The Plymouth Museun: and Art Gallery also has five pic-
tures by Traies bwo af which wee specilically of Deven.

William Traies died at his vesidence, Parker’s Well Cotlage, Topsham Road, Exetor
urn 28 April L872
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ROGER HOPKINS, CIVIL ENGINEER 1775-1847

Keith 8, Perkins

‘In the gencval march of allaivs, good reads, 1ailways, canals &e mak the
progress of a country towards wealth mad prosperity, amd whevever they have
heen executed in a distriet nol already abumding in wealth, they have invari-
ably directed the flow of riches (owards it

Rayer Hopkins, civr cngineer - Qlioers Hotel, Bodmin 3 O, 1834y

* ok ok

Roger Hopking of SBwansea, Plymoulh and Bath, Civil Engineer, completed the
comslruction of the Teignmouth and Shaldon Road Bridge, suuth Deven in June 1827,
tHis membership as Corresponding Member ol the Tnstitution of Civil Engineers was
appreved by Thomas Telford and others on 13 February 1827, and, although the
Teignmouth and Shaldon Bridge is undoubtedly the work for which Hopkins is best
lnowit, his skills as a tramroad and railway engineer were as equally in greal demand
in the Westcountry as in seuth Wales.

Roger Hopking, from Llangyfelach in the Swansea Valley, eonatructed in the early
years of the ninoteenth contury the tramroad between Pen-y-darren and Abereynon in
south Wales upon which, in 1804, Richard Trevithick tried the first railway locomolive
steam engine.’ [n 1806, Hoplkins married Mary Harris, daughter of the Reverend R,
Harris of Pwhheli, Caernrvanshive, at 86 Mary's Chureh, Swansea’ On 27 November
of that same year, Hepkins hecame trustee to the Baptist Mecting House of the
Swansen General Baplist Charch (est 1758),

A strongly relipnous man, he was always able to express his beliefs as part and pareel
of evecyday life, The Hapkins' family motio was ‘Heb Dduw, heb Ddim. Duw g Digon'.
which means ‘Without God, without anything, With God with all™

After Pen-y-dacren. Hopkins was, in 1810, engaged as engineer on the Monmouth
Railway, which was built partly through the Forest of Dean and opened in 1812 This
ehgagement wins alinost certainly theough the good oflices of his associate and litend,
David Mushet,” the ominent Seattish metallunrist and normeaster; discoverer of the
Scottish blackhand tronstone, who was then at Coleford in Gloucestershive. Mushet
wirs reminded vears later (L3400 by a letler from Hopking, of .. the numerous
instanees mowhich vou had been kindly serviceable to me during thai period ... when
we were engaged Lagether on the railwiys, In these coneens you promated my inter-
vste”

In 1814 Hopkins enteved Devon - perhaps for the first time - at, Bideford, catled
there by John, Lovd Rolle of Stevenstane Hause, Torvington, and William Tardrew .
Togetber they were engaged in planning o tramroad or ratlway to start within two
miles of Bideford and (o extend alony the River Torridge towards Great Torrington and
the interion of the county. This would, so il was said, add considersbly to the trade then
enrrted on betwien south Wales and Bidelwd, espectally in Lhe supply of coal, culm and
timestone. "Fhis desirable work s now marking out by, and under Uhe abile direction of’,
Mr Ropmr Hopkins, engineer of Swansea’” The praject came to vathing however, bud,
as we shall see, it was revived some yoars later by promoters of the Bidelsrd and
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Okehampton Railway,

In 1821 the Plvmouth and Dartmoeor Railway, brainehild of Sir Fhomas Pyrwhitl,
was in serious constructional difficulty. It was realised, toe late, Lhal Lhe Ungineer
Witliam Stuarl — whom the Company had, with Admiralty consent 'hinvowed” part-
time from the Plymouth Breakwater underiaking — was, in fct, building them a rail-
way that was impracticable (i.e. lthe gradienis were too steep). The company scarched
around desperately for ‘an engineer practically acquainted with railways’, setting their
stghls finally upon Roger Hopkins who had, in 1811, carried oud remedial work on the
Severn and Wye Railway" during its construction. In the event, Hopking was sent off to
Parfiament and successlully guided through a now Bill raised to vary part of the
Plymouth and Dartmoeor Railway and Lo amend Acts already passed. Roval Assenl was
obtained on 2 July 1821, allowing Hoplkins to complete Uhe raitway, which opened on 26
Septembor 1823,

Liven before the conclusian of his engagement witl the Plymouth and Dartmoor
Railway Company, Roger Hopkins' influence in Devan had gained momentum, At
Teignmauth in 1823 he hecame invalved with George Templer, chaivman of the commit-
e set up Lo promote the building of a bridge aver the Teign estuary. He made a madel
of &t wooden bridgge which, almast certainly, was the intended destgn tor Teignmoulh. At
Livirit in Plymouth Lord Morley of Saltram — who was Manning Lo evect a suspension
bridge nver the Plym estuary - was wrged by S William Btfurd (Recorder of Plymouthy
to bwld @ wooden bridige instead. So, having been influenced by Hopking desipn for
Teignmouth, Morkey directed Ris own engineer - James Meadows Rendel, to attend a
meeting of the Modbury Twmpike Trust at Yealmpton cancerning the proposed alter-
ations in plans for Luira Bridge, ou the plans of Roger Hopliing, For five days in
Novembwer both Hoplins and Rendel were engaged together st Laira, ascertaining the
practicability of building there 2 bridge of wooden construction.

Tempaorarily drawn away to Lundon in 1824 Lo assist in the preparation of an esti-
mate and tender to supply Dartmoor granite for the whale construction of dohn
Rennie's London Bridge. Hopking also used this period to faalise his design for the
Teignmouth and Shaldon Bridee.

Finally. on 9 Junc 1824, Acts Tor bridges at Teignmouth and Loira were oblained,
although at Laire o lote design For o cast ivon hridge by Bendel, instead of a wonden
one, was approved. Thrte years Jater, in 1827, the two bridges were opened to the -
eral public, : )

By now (18271 the Hopkins family were well established in Plymouth at 5 Brunswick
Terrace, where Roger lived with his wile Mary and lhree sons: Rice, Thomas and Evan,
Both Rice and Thomas would in the yvears ahead beconte Members ol the [nstitution of
Civil Engineers, whilst Evan, the youngest — so named alter his prandfather, et anoth-
ev railway engineer — would turn down the oppoctunity to become a member of that
same institution. But, before we turn once again Lo railway construction, we look
briefly at another of Hopking work - the Plymouth, Royal Union Baths

As early as 1824 designs for marine baths in Plymouth were furnished by John
Faulston  the leading architeet in Devon and the Westeountry, but for undisclosed rea-
sonts the project fiadled to materialise and the company radsed for that purpose was is-
sobved. In 1828, however, a charier of incorporation was granted by the king to
Edmund Lockyer Esq., for the purpose of eresling such baths.

Huger Hopkins, under the direction of the project committee, prepaved Lhe necessary
elevation and plans and, on 29 July 1828, the Tundation stone was Luid by Sir Ryan
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motive steam traction in Cornwall™

The railway, raised for the ‘transportalion or ore and granile Jur shipment, and to
convey inland limestone shelly sea sand as fertiliser for agricaltural use, was officially
opened on 30 September 1834, On that first day, passengers — including the engincer
Roger Topkins, his song, and the band of the Hoyal Cornwall Militia in Tl unitorm -
travelled the new railway at the rate of 6 to 10 miles an hour, Hopking made the com.-
ment, "This is one of the happiest dayvs o my life)

The Cornish newspaper, West Briton, dated 17 Qctober 1834 veported the propused
extension ol the Bodmin and Wadebridge Railway. on by Camelford, then from
Launeeston to Calslock with plans fo connect with Bideford and Okehampton, Hxeter
and Crediton, ‘From the success of the able engineers Messrs Hoplins and Sons,
paLranized as they are by the Noblemen and Genllemen, proprietors of the soil over
whiech this line extends, there is no deubt bul that in i comparatively short periad the
whaule of these lines and thetr collatera) brauches will be perfected.

The repart proved W be over-optimistic. Hopkins, instead, transterred his intevests to
the iron trade of seuth Wales and became invelved o joint-stock iron ecompany specula-
tion, during that was populacly known at the Lime os ‘railway mania’ (see below),

During 1836 Roger Flopking founded the Monmouthshive Tran and Coal Corapany in
Bath® at the time of the railway and ironboom of 1836-153%. In 1837, the Company
leased a tract of minerals in the parish of Bedwelty in the connty of Monmouth, south
Wales, with mines at Bedwelty und Alerearn, and formed an itl-fated, joint-stock iron

comtipany ‘into which the whole Hvings of professional men and private individuuls of

vomfortalle means were recklessly cast’. These were, 1l was said, ‘iron-mad specula-
T i

tors, adveaturers who were fired with an inducerient to the sharchoiders of o return of

81 per cent por anmum,’

Some £200,000 was raised to erect an ironworks. Hapking and Sons built it and
Roger was appointed as managing divector, Victoria [ronworks at Ebbw Vale had come
into being. But in 1834, this speculative ventire — only recently hrought tnto opera-
Lion for Lhe fest time - began (o collapse, due to massive over-praduction throughout
the iron trade and o slump in raitway construction causing the price of iron to fall,
With Victoria's capital exheusted. aud for the want of material lo supply, ‘directors
hecama panic stricken and abandoned the helm, some committing suicide and others
secking un asviem of salety in foreign countries’. By 1840, Viclovia had failed and sur-
viving divectors were ordered to hand over Lhe whole of the works to the

Monrouthshire and Glamorganshire Baoking Company in repayment of g debt of

B12,500. With deepening depression in the ivon trade (1834-18404), most joini-stoek ivon
companies suffered the same fate?

By late 1842 Hopkins had turned his back on south Wales and settled in Frunce at
Haulogne.” By 1848, his sons, Rice and Thomas had veturned to Bovon to survey and
tngineer various railway projects ol Bideford and Tavistock® whilst the youngest son
Evan hecame engaged in commitiee managemenl work with the Plymouth and
Dartmoor Railway Company.”' Roger Hopkins, however, was planniny to raisce a new
company under Lis own name to erect furnaces, not only at Boulegne, but all over
France. The outconte of these plans, seems not to have heen recorded. Two years later
Roger Hopltins, now in bis seventy-second year, was dead.

i %k Kk
toger Hlopking M.LC.E. civil engincer, mineral surveyor, architeet, and {ronmaster
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Roger Hophins becwne correspending Member of the Institwtion of Civil
Engineers — 1827
Permission: Architect — Institwdion of Creil Engineers

(his own cleseription), died at 100 Upper Stamford Street, Lamboeth o 27 July 1847,
the Londan home of his eldest son Rice, "

Sources and Acknowledgements

T West Briton — 3 Gelober, LHAE (p2).

2 perkins K.S. — ‘Opening up South Devon - The Hopkins Connection’” The Drevon
Historian 45, Ocl 1992,

4 Hughes, Stephen — TTe Brecon Forest Tramroad 1980 (p139)

27



4 Hopkins Thomas — Annual Report, Institution of Civil Enginecrs, Minutes of
Provecdings Voi 8, ppli, 12, {1849,

5 Cambrian (Swansea) — 27 September 1806,

6 Cambrinn - 19 May 1838,

Paar, LW, -- The Ureat Western Railiway (in Dean 2nd ed - Nuwton Abhot: 1971

Dictinnury of Nationel Ringraphy - for David Mushet (L772-T847),

9  Gloucester R.O. — Letter from Roger Hopking to David Mushet, 19 Mareh 1845, D
2646/159.

1) Cembrian — 31 December 1814,

1t Paar, FLW. — The Severn and Wye Rutheay (2nd ed. Newton Abbot, 1973).

12 Perking, K8 — op cit - (adso see Morley Papors Ace 69 D.R.O. West — Accountss
Mortey with Rendel 1823 Oct/Nov).

13 ibid

Y4 Monthly Musewm — Soulth Devon, 1 Nov 1834, No 23, Vol iv.

15 Rowe, Samuel — Prnarama of Plymouth 1826, (pl62),

16 Lecal Studies Library, Ptvmouth,

17 West Briton — op cil.

L8 Otter, R.A. — Cioif Engineering Heritage — Southern England, 1994 (p2a).

19 Gwent B.O. — CRO/CIWS 542,

200 Anonymous — Plain Faets - Victoria lvonwarks, pM 240/672/Mon. Central Library,
Newport, Gwend. v

21 Atkinzon, Michael, Baber, Colin -- The Urewcth and Decline of the Sowth Wales Tron
Incdustry - 1760-1880 (ppGL, 62, Carditl 1987,

22 Gloucester RO, — Op cit.

23 Local Studies Libravy, Plvmouth.

24 Wendel, H.G. — The Plymowth and Dartmoor Railway 1966 (pphd-59).

26 Gloucester B.O. — op cil.

26 Clamibricn - 30 July 1847.

Acknowledgements:
Liltiol, JR. — Avea Librarian, Local Studies Libravy, Plymouth.
Stirling, Mrs Sheila - Devon and Exeter Insbitution, Bxeter

Reynolds, Paul - Convenor, Railway and Coanal Historieal Society, Tramroad Group,
Swanse:n.

Keeper - National Mugeum of Wales, Cardill.

Thomas, B. - Comnty Libravian, West Glamorgan, Swansea.
Holt, Mrs Gillian - Borough Libravian. Newport, Gwenl.
Murphy, Mes Mary — Archivist, Institution of Civil Engineers
Gearge, A, Brian - B.Se,, E. Kny., FLCE., FLETL

REVIEWS

{Readers are advised that apinions expressed by reviewers ave thelr own, and not nec-
essarily those of the Editor or of the Devon [listory Society as a whole.)

Bualler: A Scapegoat? A Life of General Sir Redvers Buller 1839-1908 by
Geoffrey Powell. Leo Cooper, 1994, 245pp, 19 plates and 6 maps. £21. [SBN 0 85052
279X

When I entered Exeter School in September 1940 | was allocated to Buller House. (The
others were Raleiph and Drake, while the boarders comstituted Schon! House.) Apart
from knowing of the Buller statue near what was then Hele's School, and that General
Buller had been involved in the Bocore War, T kaew Little about this local hero.

Rut gradually one picked up the odd snippet. While it seemed that Buller was highly
regarded in Devon, and my fatherin-law was christened Redvers (rather like o pre-
sent-clay parent would celebrate a foothaller or pop sturl, he appeared to have been dis-
credited as a military leader,

And g0 ¥ Hived with my tignorance until [ read Thomas Pakenham’s doorstop of a hook
The Boer War { Weidenleld & Nicholzson 1979, Futura paperback 1982) in whicli the cob-
webs were blown away, On the first page of his Introduction Pakenham writes how he

‘.., stumbled on e nst archives of Sir Redvers Buller, the British Comumander-in-
Chief in 1899 — hattle letters of Buller's which had remained under the bitliard
table at Downes, his house i Devon ..

Pakenham also found other recoris, diaries and papers never previously taken into
account tn 2 rounded judgement of the Boer War, and it was his researches which stim-
ulaterd the author of this book, GeofTrey Powell, a military histortan, to wrile the first
biography al Butller since the 1920w

Powell hax trawled back the archives, as well as 100 books listed in the bibliography.
and protluced o fine book which, while nol & whitewash, puts Buller’s wmistakes in con-
text, and iluminates his considerable achievements in putting the Oritish Army's sup-
ply and transport services on a sound footing. He also

‘... evolved the tacties, needed to overcome Boer defences hascd npon fortified
entrenchments and the recently introduced guick-liring weapons using smokeless
migsiles’,

The author recounts wilh great panache, and with considerable support rom num-
hered references, an almost year-hy-yeur summary of Baller's military career up to the
time of the Boer War, something thal few people will be awarve of, and which at times
reads like u Bov's Chon Paper serial,

Buller was barn at. Downes near Credilon iy 1839, educated at a prep school, Harrow,
Eton and o Tunbridge Wells crammer. This was meant to prepare him for the
Sandhursl entrance examination. In the end, however, his parents muchaged him a
commission lor £400, and he became an ensign with the 60th Rilles at Winchester.

He enjoyed a happy home lif as a child at Dewnes, though almost lost a limb in an
accident in the woods. Indeed the doctor wanted to amputate the leg os the boy's life
was at risk, but Buller ohjected violently, and it was saved.

His first overseas tour of duty was in India, where he arvived at the tail end ol the
Indian Mutiny. He stayed a yemr - his only time there — hefare being sent to Hong Kong
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to participate in one of Lhe last engagements in the inglorious so-called Opium Wars.

From China, Buller was sent w Canada where be honed the hackwoods skills he fivst
learned at Downes. He veturned to Eogland, but was aoon sent back to Canada and
found himself invelved in the Red River expedition, which wos despalched across coun-
try to put down a vehellion by the mefis, people of mixed French and Indizn hlood. The
tagk needed firm leadership and Buller provided il

The senior staft officer in Canada was Lhe then Colonel Garnet Wolseley, much later
to become Field-Marshai Viscount Wolseley (and the original of W.S, Gilbert’s ‘mpdeam
major-general’), and he wrote afterwards:

‘All the officers with the expeditionary force soon became expert in making
portapes and in mending their boats, no ane more so than my very able friend and
comrade Redvers Buller, It was here | list made his aequaintance, and Tam proud
to feel that we have been firm friends ever since. He was o firsl-rate axeman, and [
think he was the: only man with os of any rank who eatld earry a 1001 barrvel of
pork over a portage on his hack. He could mend 4 hoal and have her back in the
water wilth her erew and all her stores on bourd whilst many, under stmilar cir-
cumstances would have heen still making up their minds what to do, Full of
resource, and persenally absolutely fearless, those serving under him always trust-
edd him Tudly.

Bullev did a third tour of duty in Canada, but returned in 1872 as he had gained a
place at the Staff College at Camberley, However, he did not complete the course as he
went to war in the Ashanti campaign. This was inland from the modern Ghane, and
here he once agaiy distinguished himsell with his hands.on leadership. Bul the climate
nearly did for hin, and he spent miuch of the summer ol 1874 convalescing at Downes,
though he was ne doubt fortunate to have survived the 'white man's grave’ at all. Now,
with time, he bogan to read voraciously. This year his older brother dicd, so he became
squire ol the Buller estates which extended to 5,000 acres in Devon and Cornwall, He
was tempterd to vetive, but instead did astint at the War Oflice.

By 1878 he was eager for field duties onee more, and sel ofl for South Adviea to take
mact in what became known as the Ninth Kalflr War. Here he was in charge of the 250-
strong Frontier Light [erse, his first independent command, and shured the hardships
of his unit. It was during the battle of Fllobane that Butler and four of his troop won
Vs tor conspicuous bravery. Powell writes thal: ‘Tt was said of him that he carped the
coveted decoralion twenty times during the war” Eventually bis healih broke down
once move, Veldt sores erippled his honds, and permanently affected his writing,

When he arvived buck in England he found hitnself promoted to colonel, appointed
an ADC to the Queen, ind faced a welcome at Crediton station of the sort naw only
aceorded to teams which have won the FA Cup. A month later he had to speak at an
Exeter coelebration banquet. something he hated. But the visit to the Queen at
Balmoral was more enjovable, and each teok to the other

[n 1881 he was back in South Africa. though too late te take part in the latest hostil-
ities, so he kicked his heels as an administrator until he was posted home, Now forty-
two, he gol married to the Lhirty-seven year-old widow of a cousin, who had two sons
and two daughlers already, and had another daughier, Audrey Charlotte Georgiana, by
her second hushand.

Their honeymoon in the Low Countries was interrupted by Wolseley suggesting he
join o British expeditionary force being got together L protect the Empires interests
then foeussed on the Suez Canal which had opened Lhirteen years before. Thus it was
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that Buller played a prominent part in the battle of Vel ¢l Kebir The intelligence he
gathered heforehand, and the briefing and marvshalling of the columns, made for a suc-
cessfu) outeome. Powell completes his account of this episede with a racy description of
iks aftermath:
“Fhere had been no rest for Buller after Tel el Kebiv, Fivst he was busy wrranging
the collection and examinalion of the hordes of prisoners in the immediate alter-
math of the battle. Ther, the morning atier Lhe cavalry occupied Cairo, he reached
the city himselll, aceomnpanying Wolscley in a captured train and travelling o the
footplate with a sapper so as Lo keep an aye on its Egyptian dviver. Once there, he
and |General} Butler, both starving, took a cab to find a restaurant.”

Buller now found himself Assistant Adjutant Genoral at the War Office, but it was
not long belore the Sudan became the negt campaign to engage the HBritish torces, and
Major-Cieneral Charles Gordon was send to Khuctowm, Buller was sent {ater, and once
again proved himself iu o battle near the Red Sea where his brigade was attacked on
all sides by massed dervishes. He was now promoted ta Major-General, and he was still
vuly Torky-four, He went honte briefly to England, but with Gordon hesieged a foree of
whicl Buller was a part was sent up the Nile, but was too far north to gave him,
though there were other engagements befove he returned to England for yet ancther
stint at the War Office.

His next appointment, in 1886, was as much political and soctal as military. FHle went
Lo south-west Ireland as a Special Commisstener, with uniformed treops al his disposal
to keep the peace, and he established his headquarters in the Railway Hotel at
IKillarney and later moved to Dublin. He didn’t stay in Dreland long as he was thought
to he tao aympathetic fowmrds the Irish peasants, bul came back to the War Gffice once
more,

This time his seniority enabled him Lo create the Army Service Corps (the ‘Royal’
wns added in 1918).-While here he is said to have turned the Prince of Wales oul of his
affice over a matier concernad with the Tranhy Croft affaic. While the Quoeen lived this
did Little harm. but after her death in 1901 it came to malter that the Courct and
Society wore hostile to him.

When this period at the War Office ended he semi-vetired Lo Downes lor bwelve
months, und in 1888, a full general, went to Aldershol as head of training. In 1899 a
full-seale war broke out with the Boers, and Buller went Lo Seuth Africa as
Communderin-Chigf with a force of 50,000 men. ARer weeks spent in arganisation at
Cape Town, he {elt it necessary to be nearer the action, most of which was 1,000 miles
to the north-east, but the silence of his departure annoyed these he didn't inform,
among them Leo Amery, The Times correspondint — who was to become his bitterest
eritic. Buller knew that Cape Town was tull of spies, and there were advantages in
kizening the enemy guessmg. His first intention and necessity was to relieve the town
of Ladysmith which had been invested by the Boers, and where 14,000 British soldiers
had got themselves pinned down with their commandey, General Siv George White,
The place was indefensible, hemmed in by ridges and hills, and with « bad health
record.

Between Ladysmith and the veldt, the chivacteristic plains of South Alviea, was a
maze of hills tkopjes) wmd garges through which any velieving foree would have to Gghts
its way, and on the edge of the veldt, on the south bank of the Tugela river, was the sel-
tlement of Colense, the key to Ladysmith as it had a bridge.

Powell discussed Buller's attompts to reach Ladysmith in considerable detail, and
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the first push met with disaster. Major-Cieneeal Hart's four baldalions were cut o
pieces in & re-enbrant made by aloop of the river, Buller, in person, organised and took
parl in a party of volunteers to recover some abandoned gung, and in this epizede seven
Vs were won, One eriticism levelled al Buller wis that the recovery should have been
ailected after dark.

At the end of the battle, worn aut, thirsty in the cxtreme heat, he sent a stgnal to
London which included the phrase "My view is that [ ought to let LDadysmith go .0
These words shocked the War Office, and the wheels started to turn which sient
General Sir Frederick Roberts to Alviea as (L in C., and the luriy-nine year-old Lord
Kitchener, ennobled alter Omdurman. Buller remained i charge in the Natal area.

It was Eater vevealed when the Royal Commission met that the words flet Cadysmith
go’ was Lhe eurrenl military termivalogy for the suspension of operations; the Army
cquivalent of the Navy's ‘part company with”, Bul by this time the damage had beon
done, and [ith in Buller was undermined. Also Lhere were the two rings’ — the
Wolseley ‘Alricon’ ring which ineluded Buller, and the Roberts ‘Indian’ ring, and Lord
Lansdowne (Seeretary for War) suppeorted the Indians. (Pakenhaw remarks in The
Boer War, ‘What victories they would have won, Lansdowne's generals, if they could
have fought an enemy with the vigour they showed in Gghting cach other! But with
Wolscley now elderly the initiative had maved to the Indians.

Buller's telegram to the War Gflice was ollowed by a heliograph message to White,
lncked up in Lodysunith, in which he daid, inter afic, thal White should make ‘.., the
hest terms you con .. Nevertheless he began preparalions to relieve Ladysmith,
During the push the young Winstan Churebitl was present and Powell quotes his
uhservation culled from Churchifl’s Ledysmieh.

‘Buller ook personal command, e arrived on the fleld cheerfud, inscrutable as
ever, rade hither and Lhithes with a weary staff and a huge notehook, gripped the
whole business tn his strong hands, aad so toolc it indo shape that we crossed Lhe
viver in safetv, comforlt and good order, with a most remavkable mechanieal preci-
sion, and without the loss of & single man or a pound of slores.
Churchil]l hints at Buller's efficiency, and he had a reputation for hatimg loss of life,
which hiz men loved hin for. Alsa, e would share thoiv diseomiorts.

Buller’s tactics with big gun sepertority and manpower was a step-by-step operalion
of artillery burrages supported by attacking infantvy, and one by one the Boer positions
were wiped out, and Ladysmith was fren,

Fuarther successes followed, and the campaiign became o guerilla war which did not
demand his presence, so in October 1800 he sailed for England, His welcome was
enthusiastic, and ke had an audience with the very elderty Queen to whom he had
written during the wuar Songs were wrillen about hiw. Testimonals on vellun were
produccd and plates made in the Potteries. Posteards braring his likeness were even on
sale in Paris,

All his life Buller had detested reportirs and war correspondents, aned Leo Amery
was his befe nofre. A story wenl the rounds while Buller was in Soulh Africa that when
asleed by Amery the best place to view the fortheaming battle in safity, the general
replicd contemptuonsly ‘G anywhere, to New Zealund, if you tike!l’ This was the same
Leo Amery who forty years laler as a Member of Parliament expedited Chambetlain's
departure as Prime Minister when he quated Cromwell’s words: “You have sat ton long
here tor any gosd you have been doing. Depart, [ say, and let us have done with you, In
the name of God, po.!
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On 28 September 1901 Amery had a letter publishod ta The T¥mes over u psewdonym
‘Relormer” which veproached Buller for a sbring of mistakes in South Afvica using
phrases like ‘ufter fatuity’, half-hearted atterapts’, and 'inexcusable bilure’. A couple of
weeks later Buller was speaking and launched into an ill-advised, intemperale and
impromptu defence of his aclions. This gave Amoery the chance to roply.

Bvents now [ollowed quickty, all cavefully detailed by Powell, imd Buller was dis-
missed from his position al Aldershot and refepated to halfpay. Hle asked fov a court-
mavtiul ta clear his nome bat was refused, though he put his ease o the Royal
Commissian on the South Alriea War, also known as the Elgin Commission. A Gellow
Devontan, the Hon John Forteseue, awthor of the eleven volume Hlistory of fhe Briosh
Army helped him prepare hig 86,000 word submisgion.

Amery continned Lo rubbish Bulter, and with the pubtication of The Times History of
the Wi in South Afrfce (six volumes 1902-1908]1 which be edited and lacgely wrote, his
cundemnation as scapegoat was assured.

Bulice had in the meantime returned to manage bz West Country estate, and lived
the lile ol a vespected and much loved squive at Downes, where he entered into the pubs-
he Hfe of the area. Not many famous men sec their keness raised in thejv liletime, inig
Buller was present to see his Exetor stalue (sculpted by Adrian Jones) unvetled by
Lord Ebrington. Welseley had promised to perlorm the honouwr, bul i1l health prevented
his attendance.

Buller's daughter, who became Dame Georgiana Buller, and who lived where Devon
County Hall now stands, founded St Loyes Cotlege i the Training and Behabilitation
of the Disabled in 1937,

One is Il wondering at the end of this hook why the authoee added a question mark
Lo Lhe title. He has made out 2 good case for Bulter being nominated as culpable for the
shortcomings of the British Army, so why weaken his case by implying doubt?

Huller's popularily with the locals is demonstrated by the timely anecdote recounted
by Advian Reed in The Devon Historicn no 48, page 20 under the appropriate title A
Lasting Reputation”. Powell’s words sum up how hest he was seen nationally:

‘Buller hecume the bogeymum of the Boer War, the epilome of all that was wrong
with Brilich generalship. The naime ‘Buller” helped, ag did Bis appearance, his vis-
age jowled and heavy in repose,

Buller died in June 1908 having only been il for the last six monihs of his life. His
wite roccived a flood of Jetters of conduotenee. including one frow his old Boer antago-
nist. Louis Botha, He ts buvied at Crediton. where the funcral was worlthy of the mar.

Brian Le Messurier

Early Charters of the Redvers Family and the Earldom of Devon 1080-1217 ed.
Robert Beavinan: xvi + 227 ppe | plate {Devon and Cornwall Record Society, New Ser.
37, 19041,

This vohune, based on work submitted for a London doctorate completed under the
supervision of Allen Brown some thivteen years ago, is much to be welcomed. The
quantity of early chinters alveady in print for the West Country is not large. and go the
romplete texts of some 127 charters dating before 1217 make a vory siynilicant contri-
butinn to knowledge. Aceovding to my ealeulation almast half of the charvters in the
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body of the book have nat been printed in (ull before, Dr Bearman also provides materi-
al ahout a further thicty-nine texts now lost, and forty other charters which refer to
member of the lamily. This is not, alas, in comparisen with the viches available for, say,
Yorkshire, a very farge hanl, and it has to be admitted that most of the material here
concerns the estates of the Redvers family in the Isle of Wight, the centre of their lord-
ship, and the hunour of Christchureh, mostly in Dorsel and Hampshire, Bul over thivty
chartars deal with the ands in Devon which became known as the Flonour of
Plympton.

Or Bearman has had to trawl very widely in the acchives, since Lthe Redvers family
teft behind no cartulary of theiv own. Tnstead vecourse has been made mainty to surviv-
ing materials relating to almost twenty religious houses or greater churches which the
family patronised on bolh sides of the Channel. This ig not, however, the story ul a
greal trans-channel fordship, since Richard de Redvers” estates were split between two
sans on his death, and never reanited. U is, however, interesting to find that eart
Richard 11 decided Lo be buried at Monlehourg in 1185/89 ine. 851, although two of his
lamily plarined to he buried at Christchureh ot very much earlier tnos 53, 56): proba-
bly attendance an King Richard in Novtnandy is the explonation. [ wish that space
could have been found for discussing the family’s religious interests since Lhey span the
spectrum of 0ld and new orders. Twice, at least oue senses a hint of humour in this
area. Eart Richard | added Lo the gifts his father had made to Christechureh a sinbmon
on the anniversary of his falther's deathl, and another to follow when he himsell died, so
that the ecanons having leasted would be able Lo celebrate the divine offices more
devoutly and joyfully for them both, ©f in anniversariis nostris pde recreali devotins f
festivus |which [ think is more Hkely than fostinius, quickly] divina pro nobis celebrent
ohseguie (no 491, Later, earl William, his brother, made another gift so that
Christchureh shauld have enough beer in the hope thal prayer might be ore whole-
hearted, affectnosius (no 1060,

The intreduction presents the story of the family clearvly, and has particularly inter-
eating discussions of income, to which seven boroughs made very significant contribu-
tions, The size of the estate w reflected in the faet that in the eacly 11505 the burgesses
of Christehureh thought it worth while to gel the ear] Lo frec them from the duty of ear-
rying writs, portafione breviem (no 31), On the whole, although the weualth which
Henry | granted to the fivst Richard catapulied him amongst the grealest harong, nei-
ther he, nor his suceessors, plaved a great purt in national affairs, aparl lrom his son
ear] Baldwin, a firm supporter of Matilda. AL thatl time one would have Lhought that
relationships with his mother’s family, the Peverels of Nottingham, must have beon
atrained, since they stond by Stephen, somuthing which contritneted to the lorfeiture of
most of their lands cavly in the reign af Henvy 11 Nonetheless, charters here show
Piverels holding in Devon and witnessing Redvers deeds right through this pepiod.
There is probably more to he teased aut about this relationship and that with the
Paynets, another Bamily which supported Matitda, and beld lands both in the Midlands
and Deven,

The transeriplion of Ltexts has been cavrvied through clearly and carefully, though
sometimes the notes could hitve been more helplul. A glossary of thirty-nine teehnieal
terms does not contain terserte {(p8O), nor help with the fascinating charcter of 1155 x
1162 allowing & market in Plympton in domibus swis of terris ecclesic, sive in bracinis
site fn taneriis sive in bulerigeriiz |, (p92 and 1233 I suspeet, having consulted the
Muoddivval Latin Word-List, thal brewhouses, tanneries and bakeries are meant, but |
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am sure Dr Boreman should have told us what be thinks. A number of other unfamil-
iy terms occur withoul comment: cherser (nos 15, 34, 49, 920, which [ take to be the
equivalent of chirchscttas {no 3% Lo chureh geot, which is in the glossary and indexed,
hut the four entries mentioned are ot Uere, vistanagiis (no T2, and pilenagio (ne 78}
are not picked up under villeing, What, [ wonder also, is the whole chapeley of Bere,
coram fof capetlo de Bera, before which a piit was confirmed ¢.1175 x 1134 [no 671, and
what pestlion in the second Flawise de Roedvers houschold was filled by angere . meo
(no 119)? I searched wthe Word-Lest in vain, and when [ tuened to Lewis and Short found
soothsayern which searcely scems likely.

This ts an interesting and important collection, which wiil be much used by all inter-
estad in the twelfth contury. Dr Bearman and the Society are 1o be eongratulated upon
il, Printing and design are excellent, and the whole enclosed in a very lovely cover, ere-
ated mround a panel of David and Golindh taken From a thivteenth-century psalter in
Exeter Cathedral Library.

Christopher Floldsworth

An IHustrated History of Lynton and Lynmeouth 1770-1914, by John Travisg,
Broedon Baoks, 1995, 190pp, illusirated, £9.99. ISBN 1 85083 123 4

The farmers of Lyoton raised sheep, the fishermen of Lymmouth caught herrings but by
the end of Lhe cighteenth century the wonllon industry was in wartime recession and
the ish had gone away. Opportunely, the cult of the Picturesque bought a new liveli-
hood to bolh communities. The stenery was there; steep cliffs, romantic crags, moun-
tain torrents and the Valley of Rocks with its druidieal possibililies, So comfortable
hatels and lodgings were providad for the discerning tourist whaose olher interests were
fimited to sketchingy colecting foros and a little sea bathing. Soon weaithy familics
built frge bouses for summer occupation, some in fact slaving the whole year round. [t
was these peaple who, with one or two successful local entrepreneurs, decided the
future of the twa communities. They were determined 1o keep out the ‘trippers’ who the
innkeepers and small tradesmen wanted in. Henee the prolonged and suceessiul appo-
sttion to o pier, al which the pleasure steamers From Bristol and Cavdill eould herih,
and the effective resistince to a vailway, When Lhe Intter eame in 1898 it was an incon-
venient narrow gauge line not suited for mass incursions. Tnaceessibility was a low
price for exclusiveness. nor would there have been much to please the undesired visi-
tors when Lhey got there. It was a vesovl organised to satisty the well to do.

The most impertant and beneficent influcnee on the development of the area was
that of George Newnes, the publisher, To it was due the it vailway connecting Lhe
Lwo villages. nruch of the eapital for the navrow gauge line, the Congregational Chureh
and a town holl costing £20,000 on top of many leszor yitts. Other settlers wern also
generous in their support. Not surprisingly, many ol the pecsonalities invelved were
abrasive in their dealings with euch other, The disputes over the harbour between one
lord of the manor, Roe, and his neighbourving lord, o clevgyman, is a typical example.
Even mare divisive were the squabbles oceasioned by the Rev. Lawson in his twenty
vear incumbeney from L1866, His high Anglicanism led to the establishment of a ‘free’
church while his school palivies produced oppasition establishments of many detomina-
tions. After he had gone all these malters rosolved themselves.

The author has alse considered other asprets of the past of the two villages trom
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smuggling and lifeboals Lo the coming of Lhe motor ear. As an illustrated history it is
well done with comprehensive coverage both of people and buildings. The photograph
of an early motor car being takeo up the diff railway is a reminder both thal it was
used to transport goods as wel as people and Lhat it would be some time hefore the
andious molorist would visk the hill between the two villages. The story closes in 1914
because alter the war the rich did not return and their houses became private hotols
and boarding houses. Possibly because of its isolation there does not seom to have been
nruch retivement seltiement by the moderalely wealthy, as for example, at Bxmouth
but, as the author observes, the legacy of the weallhy has been the preservation of the
resort and its scenery unmarred.

The hook s attractively produced in hard hack, low priced and the illustrations are
very clearly printed, The author has bad a good story Lo tell and has told it well. My
only disappointment is that there ave no plans of the villages which would have helped
the reader to follow the course of development and to identify the presenl day sites of
the buitdings mentioned in the text.

Adrian Reed

An Od Radical and His Brood. A portrait of Sir John Bowring and his faunily based
mainly on the correspondence of Bowring and hig son, Frederick Bowering. By LT
Bartle. Janus Publishing Company, 1994, 140 pp, £3.95. [SBN 1 85756 132 5.

{n spite of Lhe author’s disclaimer this book is a good shorl biography of Sir John
Bowring and as such is more than a backpround against which Lo set his relations with
his family. [t is a faiv assessment of 4 man whose character and actions display so
many contradictions Lhat it is often difficult to determine whether or not a particular
course is followed [rom principle or from expediency. Hig dedication to his family at
least is never in doubt.

When he was twenty-four Bowring married Maria Lewin, the daughter of o
Unitarian corn merchant. She was a resourcetul woman of strony character, devoted to
her bushand, and a good mother to thelr children. Her life cannot have been casy with
the Bowring fortunes several times switching abruptly from easy affluence to near
pentry and back again. Hler children seem to have heen brought up parily with her and
partly with their grandfather and aunts at Laskbear in Exeter. Although she did some-
times accompany her husband on his shorter Lrips abroad she was lelt at home when
he set out on his Jonger commercial expeditions. After he went Lo Canton as Consul in
1848 she was not to see him again for four and a half years. It is not surprising that she
ingtsled on returning with him to China with two of their daughters after his leave in
1854, T was not a happy decision. Weakenad by the climate she came home to die in
1858,

Dowring devoled considerable effort Lo securing posttions for his sons, He gave his
danghters a suitable education bul there 1s no suggestion Lthat he was concerned to find
therm husbands. e and they might have been happier if he had. Like his two ‘eccen-
trie’ sisters at Larvkbear nove of the three was to marry. Religion and good works were
to prove not altogether satisfaclovy substitutes. With his sons he was move successful.
He got the eldest, John, into Jardine Matheson, a firm heavily engaged in opium sell-
ing, a trade which he had publicly denovoeed. Later, when John had become a partner
in the company Bowring negotiated a treaty with Stam which ineluded provision for
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the frec import of opium, Not surprisingly this provoked strong eriticism, not least from
his former Radieal friends. His thivd son, Lewin, was given an Indian wrilership by
Hobhouse, then President of the Board of Control, The following year Bowring chose to
attack the Rast India Company in the Commons to the fury of Hobhouse who felt that
such ‘preposterons conduct’ could only be explained by a cash inducement. Lewin went
on to a distinguished carcer in the 108, Frederick, the second son, became a barvister
and, resident in England, scems to have been his father's adviser on family matters.
Fdgar was found a place at the Board of Trade and latterly was used by his absent
father ss his private link with the administeation. After his retirement, standing as a
Liheral, ke won one of the Exeter seals in the 1868 General Eleclion, but lost it in
1874.

Charles, the youngesl son, caused a family erisis by becoming a Roman Catholic. He
lelt Cambridge to stucy for the priesthood and died in Bome shortly after ordination.
Lewin also became a Roman Catholic while Emily insisted on remaining in Hong Kong
as member of a Catholic order when her father retived to linglund, Maria and her other
brothers beeame Anglicans and it is possible that only Edith rematned a Unitarian.
Bowring himself married secondly a Unilarian lady of the age of his own children, to
their surprised annoyance, and thereafter resumed his interest in Unitarianism, She
proved a good wife to him in his active Exeter retivement. Although divided confession-
ally the children were united in the defence of their falher when his Chinese actions
were eriticised but, privately, only Edgar thought that he had acled corveelly.

The papers given at the Bowring Bicentary Conference at Exeter in 1992 and pub-
lished the following year {reviewed in The Devon Historian No. 47 pp28-30) examined
in some detail certain aspects of Bowring’s caresr. Mr Bartle’s much wider survey,
although in parls where the family was not concerned necessarily compressed, is an
admirable pendant to the earlier publication. He has drawn divectly on the Dowring
corvespondence in the John Bylands Library as well as other official and non-official
sourees, The resull is the portrait of a famtly in which the children, however strangely
they may sometimes act, seem uncomplicated in their attitudes to life in contrast to the
involvad and elusive character of their father. Mr Bartle has given us the matertal: it is
for each reader to try to judge for himsell whal was the real 8ir John Bowring.

Acdlrian Reed.

Loyalty and loeality: popular allegiance in Devon during the English Civil
War, by Mark Stoyle, University of Exeter Press, 1994, £25, 330 pp, ISBN 0859494282

Il is now three years since the start of the commemoralive events marking the onset of
the Civil War. Perhaps it i3 not surprising that unlike the response in 1988 to wote Lhe
Armada, there has been such a poor showing of research examining Devor's history in
the 16840s. The publication of Dr Stoyle’s book will by ilsell greatly fill that vacuum.
The immediate impression of this book, with its appealing cover, is of the high slandard
of presentation with which the University of Exeter Press is becoming identified. Many
readers will already be drawn to the book hecanse of its title, with the hope of finally
understanding a period of Devon's history which is particularly interesting but prob-
lematic. Some readers may thus he inttially dismayed by the brevity of the chronology
which 1s provided. Buf in many ways this is st the crux of the subjeet matter and this
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book: it 5 not enough merely to try to follow the course of events and those individuals
involved. Few historians will have a clear understanding of what happencd forally in
the 18403, Thiz is only to be expected since even lewer will have firm opinions on Lhe
causes of lacal behaviour, given the length of time in which there was political uncer-
tainty as well as the problematic nature of Devon with its geagraphical size and mini-
regions. Thus it is not Dr Stayle’s aim merely to chronicle events in Devon in the 1640s,
or indeed to explain why they happened, but to examine how they allfected the general
population, with the intention of seeing what help thig is when looking at the national
picture. Dr Stoyle allempts Lhis by testingr Professor David Undecdown’s thesis based
on his work on three olher western counties. Dr Stoyle examines the charvacter of local
allegiance in Devon — if Lhere were clearly delined areas of loyalty, why there were divi-
aions — and he examines Lthis againsl a national patlern. He eonchudes that all but
mid-Devon was for Parliament, with the ity of Exeter shacply split by parish. To what
extent. he has succeeded may well be decided by historians of Devan's mini-regions who
may be the best judges. Given that we have another four venrs betore the events com-
memorating the Civil War end {and those marking Lhe Commaonwealth begin), we can
begin to wnderstand how such a long period, with dramatic changes in polilieal Cor-
tunes, influenced the behaviour and loyalties of those involved. Loyvediy and tocality
may remain topical for anether four years, but for those inlerested in the study of sev-
enteenth-century Devon it will prove Lo be s indispensable work for many more years
fo come, i

Todd Cray

About Tavistock: an historical introduction and six town walks. The Tavistock
& District Local History Soviety. 1995, £11.00.

Having made two vistts to Tavistock recently, for me this new account by a group of
people fiving theve was bath an opportunity ta recall memories of earlier visits and to
be reminded that the town has had o long and impartant history since Lthe Benedictines
arvived theve a thousand years ago. L was, therefore, o little surprising thal the moem-
ber of staff at Lhe hotel bearing its name Lo whom | spake was not oo sure of Ordulph's
importance Lo Tavistock. There is a schematie plan printed on the centre pages. There
are sixty-six places noted on the list there {{rom ‘Stone posts’ to the 'Old toll house” wilh
‘Abbey cloister remaing’ and *The Grammar School of 1836" ameng many others); this
gives 1 good indication of Lthe wide range of places Lo see and, perbaps in some cases,
search for. The boalk is illustrated with old prints and photogrsphs, For a railway
enthusiast, one showing the ‘“GWR line and Tavy foundry’ is o sad reminder of the
greal days when the town was served, not only by the GWR but also by the LW
(later the SKj aud was the main line of the latter between Fxeter and Plymouth, No
individual i= named us "author’ but whoever was responsible lor Lthe finished text
should be congratulaled, il ix a model of skraightforward and factunl writing,

Therc is one omission. As the last page is completely blank, the opportunity could
have been taken to have included a bibliography list which would have helped readers
who would wish Lo read more about Lhis fascinating old town. [ was also a little sw-
prised to find that this excellent little book has no [SBN. In these days of computerised
book-ordering, it is cssential to have one: this may limit its sales outside Tavistock;
however, it is on sale in local shops and information cenlres an Dartmoor.

John Pihe

The Secret of the Babbacembe Murder, by Mike Holgate, Peninsula Dress, £6.95.
ISBN 1 872640 34 6

For some years Mike Flolgule has been fascinated by the John ‘the man they could not
hang’ Lee story and has spent much time and effort looking for the ultimate answer,
the person whe committed the murder Colleagues and [riends, including this reviewer,
suggested that he presented his researches in hook-form: Lhis be has now dode in con-
Junctinn with wark he has been doing for & national television company. Mast of the
story is well-known; indeed it has been the subject of books and televigion programnmes
over the yours, Mike Holgate has, however, for the (st time provided a evedible answer
a5 to ‘who did it [t is a modest publieation, only a little over 50 pages fn length and is
nol fully indicative of the time and effirt he hag spent on the task. However, at the foot
of the Last page Tie the clues which have led him to reaching the conclusion he does. He
has searched sources warldwide, including Australia fwhere a short silent fim was
made) and the United States (whete Lee is said to have died after emigrating) as well
as librarices and record offices in the United Kingdom. The verdict as to whether he has
eorrectly identilied the guilty party must be lelt Lo the reader.

John Pike

The story of 5t Luke’s Church, Buckfastleigh, by Uclen Harris. 1994, 18pp illus.
Price £1 at the church, or £1.25 by pust rom the Viear, The Vicarage, Buckfastleigh.

Towards the end of last century, pressing need for a new church in the town of
Bucklastleigh, more accessible than the parish church high on a hill, resutted, aflor an
unsuccessful attempt at fund-raising thivly-six years earlier, in the huilding of St
Luke’s. Written to commemorate the church’s centenary in 1994, Helen Harvis's well-
doeumented and ilustrated booklet reflects the warmil of her family involvement with
St Luke’s aver thress genervations. Using a variety ol resources: newspaper cuttings,
parish magazines, personal reminiscences {including a memorable deseriplion ol o
pavish tear, family diaries, church council minutes, local direclories. Mrs Haorris sets
the story of St Luke's firmly in the social and historical context of nineteenth and twen-
tieth century Buckfastleigh. It is made clear from her account thal 8t Luke's continues
to respond to the neetls of the commuanity she describes to well,

' Sheila Stirling
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